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Praise for HANDSOME BRUTE


‘In this fine, balanced book, which spares no details but avoids any hint of salacity, O’Connor has written something more valuable than a whydunnit. A fascinating portrait of a dreary, uncertain post-war world of drinking dens, cruddy hotels and hopes unfulfilled.’


Ben McIntyre, THE TIMES


‘An astute study . . . Sean O’Connor’s keenly intelligent book is essentially an attempt to fit these two Neville Heaths together . . . O’Connor restores its human dimension, using evidence and witness statements from previously restricted Home Office and police files.’


John Carey, SUNDAY TIMES


‘Sean O’Connor’s brilliance is to sustain the horrific dramatic tension of these murders while providing a rich and detailed context of place and period. His tone is careful and dispassionate, his research painstaking and extensive.’


THE INDEPENDENT


‘The story of how this weak-willed conman and small-time fraudster turned from a former RAF playboy into a savagely sadistic sex killer makes fascinating reading in Sean O’Connor’s meticulously researched book.’


DAILY EXPRESS


‘O’Connor tells the whole story beautifully. It’s the best true crime book I’ve read for ages. His short description of Heath’s execution at the hands of Albert Pierrepoint is superb.’


EVENING STANDARD
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This is an astonishing case, is it not? The probability is, of course, that Heath knows no more about the state of his mind than any of us do about our own minds. It is something that is part of his nature; it is natural; to him it would not appear extraordinary.


J. D. Casswell KC


Is there any cause in nature that makes these hard hearts?


Shakespeare, King Lear (III, vi)
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FOREWORD




So much for Raffles. Now for a header into the cesspool.


George Orwell, ‘Raffles and Miss Blandish’, 1944


Heath’s story is not a pretty one . . . it will be remembered as a sort of sadistic bloodbath not untypical of an age of crime where sadism and bloodbaths are, if anything, coming to be the rule rather than exceptions.


Nigel Morland, Hangman’s Clutch, 1954




With the passing of the Second World War generation into history, the story of Neville George Clevely Heath, once regarded as ‘the most dangerous criminal modern Britain has known’1 and ‘the most atrocious murderer in modern times’,2 has dwindled in our collective memory in the sixty-eight years between 1946 and today.


Heath’s reputation – once a byword for sadistic perversion and psychopathic violence – has not held the popular imagination as Christie’s or the Moors Murderers’ have. This is despite the fact that the case caused a media furore at the time, providing gruesome (and titillating) copy in newspapers dominated by the grey realities of austerity Britain: the national debt, the initiation of bread rationing and the painfully slow process of demobilization. The case was a gift for the tabloids with its sensational ingredients of aberrant sex and violent death, set in a world undergoing a process of radical change. The blond, handsome Heath, still tanned from his time abroad, was a great distraction for a nation in flux, exhausted by six years of wartime privation and looking towards an uncertain future. All the elements of the case came together to make a classic English narrative: a charming but vicious protagonist ridden with class anxiety, an ambitious detective, a national manhunt for a killer on the loose.


From a twenty-first-century perspective, the background to the murders – the pubs, bars and nightclubs of west London and the genteel hotels of south-coast seaside resorts – conjure a lost, very English world. It’s the socially and sexually anxious environment of Agatha Christie and Terence Rattigan, filtered through the prism of Patrick Hamilton’s drink-sodden novel, Hangover Square. But despite the classic and comfortable mid-twentieth-century English setting, the savagery of the crimes and Heath’s at once charming, yet pathological, personality anticipate an American style of slaughter much more akin to Bret Easton Ellis’s American Psycho or Jim Thompson’s The Killer Inside Me. And despite the period details – the Royal Air Force slang, the pipe clenched in the teeth and the old school tie – Heath’s laconic attitude both to his crimes and to the prospect of his own extinction is redolent of the casual cruelty of contemporary murderers like John Maden, who killed his niece Tia Rigg in Manchester in 2010, ‘because I felt like it’. When he was finally arrested, Heath responded in a similarly offhand manner: ‘Oh, all right.’3


Such was the appetite for news of the case at the time, that in the summer of 1946 when newspapers were generally restricted to four skimpy pages because of newsprint rationing, the Heath case received enormous coverage. In reporting the trial, journalists took licence to report – in surprising detail – the most graphic revelations of the murders as well as the more salacious details of Heath’s sex life. The trial offered an opportunity to examine the darker avenues of sexuality in modern Britain – and this was all available over the breakfast table with the post and the toast. Heath’s friends even negotiated a newspaper deal for him in order to give his exclusive side of the story.


Curiously, given the nature of his crimes, the audience for Heath’s story was primarily female. Some women, it was reported, queued for fourteen hours outside the Old Bailey in the hope of getting just a glimpse of this most notorious of ladykillers. ‘Rarely’, noted the People, ‘have women been so strangely fascinated by a murder trial.’4


For a society struggling to negotiate its place in the new world order, Heath’s story articulated an alarming new postwar anxiety. With millions of soldiers, sailors and airmen returning to Britain – many of them trained killers – the Heath trial exposed the tension created by re-integrating servicemen en masse into the hugely changed communities and families they had left years earlier. Newspapers of the time are filled with tragic stories of servicemen returning home and killing their estranged wives, unable to settle into the brave new, post-war world. Commenting on the case of one former soldier who had done just that, which resulted in the conviction being commuted to manslaughter, Mr Justice Charles warned that ‘the law of the jungle’5 was creeping into English courtrooms. The News Chronicle worried that ‘it would seem from some recent murder trials that the unfaithful wife of a serviceman is an outlaw with no benefit of law whatsoever. She may be murdered with impunity.’6


Heath’s career encapsulated the civilian population’s particularly ambivalent attitude towards pilots from Bomber Command. Taking their lead from Winston Churchill, the public had lauded ‘the Few’, the brave boys in Spitfires who defended the nation from invasion in 1940, dog-fighting the Luftwaffe across the skies above the South Downs. But Bomber Command had flown into Europe causing devastation on an unprecedented scale, wiping out civilian and military targets alike with a seeming disregard for human life. They were at once glamorous but deadly – the creators of those iconic symbols of wartime destruction, Berlin, Hamburg and Dresden.7 In his study of the RAF during World War II, The Flyer, Martin Francis observes ‘a broader ambivalence among the public and the men of the RAF themselves, as to whether they were chivalric knights of the air or merciless agents of violent destruction’.8 Neville Heath – the charmer turned killer – absolutely embodies this disorientating anxiety, and this may well be a key to the extraordinary interest the public took in the case; for Heath’s story dramatized one of the unspoken fears of the age.


As early as 1947, only a year after the murders, a serial killer with remarkable similarities to Heath appears in Ken Annakin’s ostensibly upbeat film, Holiday Camp.9 Dennis Price plays Squadron Leader Hardwick, a suave ex-RAF pilot, charming lonely women with tales of his wartime exploits, whilst hiding his true nature as the ‘mannequin murderer’. The references to Heath would have been very clear to cinema-goers at the time. The film attempts to examine the new democracy ushered in by the Welfare State. All strata of society get to take a holiday – even if that only means a chilly week at Butlins in Bognor. But despite the optimism for the new Albion inherent in the film, it’s clear that the murderous Squadron Leader Hardwick – and Heath himself – articulated the unease in British society at welcoming home a whole generation of men, many of whom had killed during the war. Having fuelled and channelled these violent instincts on behalf of the state, where were they to be directed now? And, indeed, could they be channelled at all? Or were these dark instincts to become a reality of the post-war world?10


The fascination with Heath continued after his trial and began to fill more than just newspaper copy. Two sensational monographs about the case were published with indelicate haste after Heath’s trial, both by journalists who claimed to have known Heath personally. Gerald Byrne’s Borstal Boy: The Uncensored Life of Neville Heath was published in 1946, printed to economy standards and bearing a suitably sombre black and white cover. Full of salacious (and often unsubstantiated) detail, it is a paperback shocker masquerading as a morality tale, ‘of a man . . . who stopped at nothing to satisfy his own craving for position, money and power’.11


Sydney Brock’s The Life and Death of Neville Heath followed swiftly in 1947. Though the text attempts a serious examination of Heath’s life and crimes from a first-hand point of view, it has a Mills & Boon-style subtitle: The Man No Woman Could Resist. The cover of this railway bookstore paperback depicts a sexy young woman in a saucy short skirt – a whip to her side, hanging sinisterly in mid-air. The cover promises a ‘Sensational-Sadistic-Romantic-True Story’.12 This uncomfortable tone – exploiting the case as soft pornography – came to dominate non-fiction writing about Heath. James Hodge, who published the much-admired Notable British Trials series, had hesitated about covering the Heath trial at all, precisely because the facts of the case could too easily result in something of dubious value, bordering on exploitative porn. Eventually Macdonald Critchley successfully edited the case in 1951, winning resounding praise from Hodge:




Heath could very well have deteriorated into a wretched book in less capable hands and that is why I did not want to include it in our series before, in view of the less savoury angle some might have taken.13




Heath’s story continued to fascinate the public and resonated throughout popular culture in the years following the trial. In 1949, the writer, Elizabeth Taylor, reinvented Heath’s story as a dark romance in her novel, A Wreath of Roses.14 Shortly afterwards, Patrick Hamilton wrote a trilogy of novels focusing on an amoral con man, Ralph Gorse, in his Gorse Trilogy (1951–55). Even if Gorse’s career as a petty criminal doesn’t actually lead to murder (though there’s a clear sense that he’s capable of it), it’s apparent that in his depiction of this satanic womanizer, Hamilton had drawn heavily on details from Heath’s biography, including incidences of cruelty in childhood and the manipulation of women as an art form, both with a strong undercurrent of sadomasochism.15 All these facts were readily available in the popular press at the time of Heath’s arrest and trial.


In 1954, the criminologist and novelist Nigel Morland remarked on the dramatic qualities inherent in the Heath case, ‘in that it unfolds almost like a film story, with backgrounds slightly out of focus’.16 It’s no surprise then that Alfred Hitchcock, renowned especially in his later works for his explorations of sex and psychopathy – particularly after the success of Psycho in 1960 – was drawn to Heath’s personality and spent several years developing a film inspired by the events of the case. The script, originally written by Benn Levy, was called Frenzy (latterly Kaleidoscope).17 By 1967 Hitchcock was already making camera tests for the film and had shot an hour of silent footage. This was to be Hitchcock as he’d never been seen before – informed by the European New Wave with a particular emphasis on realism, graphic sex and violence.18 But this new Hitch proved too radical for the studio executives at MCA. They rejected the script and the Heath project was shelved. Howard Fast, who also worked on the script, claimed that the studio told Hitchcock that they’d never allow him to shoot it as ‘his pictures were known for elegant villains and here was an impossibly ugly one’.19 The title was eventually recycled for Hitchcock’s more accessible 1971 British comeback featuring Barry Foster as Rusk, the ‘necktie murderer’.20 But the essence of the film Frenzy – a charming but ultimately terrifying sex killer – shares much in common with the character of Heath, Rusk’s fetish for neckties echoing Heath’s widely reported fetish for handkerchiefs.


Though the facts of the case created an international media sensation, reported in newspapers and magazines across the globe, the trial was very English in tone; low-key and devoid of histrionics. The dramatic focus of the three-day hearing was a debate about Heath’s sanity. This was assessed by a statute over 100 years old – the M’Naghten Rules of 1843 – which posed the question: ‘Did the Defendant know what he was doing – and, if so, did he know what he was doing was wrong?’ This made no concessions for the developments in psychology and psychiatry since the turn of the twentieth century. The plea of diminished responsibility was not to reach the British statute books for another decade with the passing of the Homicide Act in 1957. This was to state that:




Where a person kills or is party to a killing of another, he shall not be convicted of murder if he was suffering from such abnormality of mind . . . as substantially impaired his mental responsibility for his acts and omissions in doing or being a party to the killing.21




No such plea was available to Heath’s defence in 1946.


Key witnesses, who may have been able to offer crucial evidence in relation to Heath’s past behaviour, his service career and his psychological state in the months leading up to the murders, were never called to the trial. With the lack of such evidence the issue of Heath’s sanity (or insanity) was never fully debated. Beyond the categorization of Heath as a malevolent killer and sexual sadist, there was little curiosity, from either the prosecution or the defence, in examining Heath’s character or background. Heath didn’t deny committing the murders once he’d been arrested – consequently, there was no attempt at the trial to try and explain them. What provoked Heath to do what he did remains a mystery. Though he later gave a version of events to the press, this may have been motivated by his wish to leave money to his family and pay off his debts, rather than any desire to leave behind his version of the ‘Truth’. And, with regard to any story Heath told, it’s important to bear in mind that he was a sophisticated and practised liar, having talked his way into and out of dramatic situations since his schooldays.


In his essay, Decline of the English Murder, published in the same year as the trial, George Orwell observed a sea change in the culture of murder in Britain and firmly pointed to the Second World War as the tipping point.22 He lamented the passing of the ‘Elizabethan age’ of English murder which, he suggested, spanned from 1850 to 1925 and included classic cases like Crippen, Seddon, Mrs Maybrick, Thompson and Bywaters – all domestic crimes motivated by money, sex or respectability. He contrasted these with the ‘Cleft Chin Murder’ of 1944, committed by Elizabeth Marina Jones and Karl Hulten, a meaningless killing set against ‘the anonymous life of dance-halls and the false values of the American film’. In effect, he suggested that the average reader of the News of the World or the Sunday Pictorial23 enjoyed the brutality of this new American style of murder because, as a culture, Britain had been brutalized by the effects of the war.


Orwell had first outlined this theory in ‘Raffles and Miss Blandish’, comparing the author E. W. Hornung’s popular character, Raffles – the gentleman thief – with James Hadley Chase’s hard-boiled American tale No Orchids for Miss Blandish, a novel of murder, torture, sadistic violence and rape. Significantly this became one of the most popular novels of the war years and Orwell was clear in what he felt lay at the heart of its huge success – it articulated the sublimated anxieties of the age:




In his imagined world of gangsters Chase is presenting, as it were, a distilled version of the modern political scene, in which such things as mass bombing of civilians, the use of hostages, torture to obtain confessions, secret prisons, execution without trial, floggings with rubber truncheons, drownings in cesspools, systematic falsification of records and statistics, treachery, bribery, and quislingism are normal and morally neutral, even admirable when they are done in a large and bold way. The average man is not directly interested in politics, and when he reads, he wants the current struggles of the world to be translated into a simple story about individuals [my italics].24




This may well be another reason why Heath’s story touched such a popular nerve at the time, articulating as it did a brutal and violent strain in modern culture, unnervingly close to the surface, through the story of a once-heroic individual turned bad.


For the first time, this book examines evidence and witness statements that have been held in previously restricted files from the Home Office and the Metropolitan Police. Some evidence relating to third parties remains restricted in the National Archives until 2045 as do the scene of crime and post-mortem photographs, which were described at the time as ‘grotesque’. The post-mortem reports themselves are sufficiently graphic to make it clear the appalling nature of these images.


My intention is to examine the tragic events of 1946 in the fuller context of what we now know about the period and the case, as well as examining issues unexplored at the time concerning Heath’s life leading up to the killings, which might have some bearing on his subsequent actions. What was the combination of circumstances that brought the crisis in Heath’s life to a head that summer? And how far is Heath’s case emblematic or indeed symptomatic of the age in which he lived? For in a country battered and exhausted by six years of war, a culture in a moment of change, and the sense of a new morality around the corner, Heath was regarded as ‘the incarnation of war-time and post-war vices’.25


Throughout 1946, the major international news stories were the increasing violence in Palestine and the trials of the Nazi war criminals at Nuremberg. With the revelation of the horrors of the death camps, there’s a sense that mankind was capable of a depth of cruelty, a lack of humanity barely imaginable in the relative innocence of the pre-war period. Certainly with Gordon Cummins, the ‘blackout ripper’, who mutilated the sexual organs of his victims with a can-opener, followed soon after by Heath, then the acid-bath murderer Haigh and the necrophiliac Christie, there does seem a real sense of extremity – a ferocity and violence extremely rare in British crime since the Whitechapel murders at the end of the nineteenth century.


Early in the investigation, Detective Superintendent Lovell of the Dorset Constabulary first articulated the intriguing power of Heath’s complex nature: ‘Certainly his personality is an extremely puzzling one, and capable of more than one single interpretation.’26 Heath’s solicitor, Isaac Near, later commented that ‘whatever the facts of the case, Heath had certainly a remarkable personality – a personality that made one like him’.27 As well as a startling lack of remorse, the persona Heath reveals in his letters from prison show real tenderness and self-awareness. He was capable of inspiring genuine affection in many of the people he knew, yet it’s impossible not to be repelled by the atrocities he committed. What continues to fascinate is his elusive, contradictory character. How do we reconcile the suburban confidence trickster, the charismatic and articulate ladies’ man with the savage and pitiless murderer who had the capacity not just to kill, but to violate the bodies of his victims with such ferocity that war-hardened police officers vomited on seeing them?


At times it’s uncomfortable to examine the records of this case and find the lives of both killer and his victims described in such forensic detail, a knowledge denied to even their closest friends and family; not just a list of dates and places, but the most intimate details of their lives – the money they had (or more often didn’t have), the dates of their menstrual cycle, their sexual predilections, their innermost secrets. But it’s this sometimes invasive detail that diminishes the passage of time and brings home the fact that they may not be ‘fools in old-style hats and coats’ at all; that perhaps we share more with the wartime generation than we thought, and their ambitions and anxieties – despite the years between us – remain constant and universal, urgent and real.


William Bixley served for fifty years in Court No. 1 as supervising officer at the Old Bailey. He had held a uniquely privileged position, attendant at the most distressing and dramatic of trials. Yet, in his memoir of 1957, Bixley reflected that, of all the trials he had witnessed throughout his half-century of service, Heath’s case was ‘the most upsetting’.




The reason for the feeling of revulsion and dread which, I think, permeated the minds of everyone in that Court was that Heath seemed ostensibly so normal, and one had deep forebodings that only by a hair’s breadth did other seemingly decent and pleasant young men escape from the awful sexual sadism which, at times, makes man lower than any animal that walks or crawls on the face of the earth.28




It’s that hair’s breadth that separates us from Heath that continues to chill us, too. How could this ‘seemingly decent and pleasant’ young man also be capable of some of the most brutal acts in British criminal history?
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PROLOGUE


Mrs Brees


23 FEBRUARY 1946


In the early hours of Saturday morning on 23 February 1946, a guest on the fourth floor of the Strand Palace Hotel was disturbed by violent noises from the room directly above. Something fell on the floor, a woman screamed for help. The guest reported the commotion to the head porter, Thomas Paul. Paul was accustomed to the realities of hotel life during wartime and was used to turning a blind eye to the excesses of alcohol and sex, so he discreetly went up to the fifth floor to see if there was a problem. When he got to Room 506, he listened at the locked door and heard a woman screaming from inside.


‘Stop! Stop! For God’s sake, stop!’


Concerned by the severity of her cries, Paul ran down the stairs to get his colleague, Leonard William Luff, the assistant manager.1


The Strand Palace was (and remains) a large building on the north side of the Strand, parallel to the Thames. Its exterior was built in the grand Empire style in 1909, but the hotel had been expanded and refurbished during the 1920s and by the Second World War boasted 980 bedrooms. The famous foyer of the hotel was remodelled in 1930. Claridges, the Savoy and the newly constructed Dorchester all had sumptuous Art Deco foyers, but Oliver P. Bernard’s designs for the Strand Palace had made his creation one of the most celebrated hotel interiors in London.2 The foyer combined traditional and contemporary marbles and made innovative use of glass and lighting. The walls were clad in pink marble and the floor with limestone. The balustrades, columns and door surrounds were made of mirror, chromed steel and translucent moulded glass. The foyer became regarded as an iconic Art Deco masterpiece and, indeed, is now preserved at the Victoria and Albert Museum after its removal from the hotel in 1969. Back in 1946, the hotel seemed to represent the epitome of pre-war elegance, bringing a touch of Hollywood glamour to war-torn London.3


Conveniently located amongst the pubs, bars, nightclubs and restaurants of London’s West End, the Strand Palace had been popular with American forces during the war and had only recently been decommissioned as an official rest and recuperation residence for US servicemen. Now, with thousands of American troops awaiting shipment back home and huge numbers of British officers and service personnel newly repatriated to the UK, London was teeming with servicemen and the hotel was fully booked.


Ten months earlier, on VE Day, nearly 5 million Britons had been in uniform across the globe. The process of repatriation and demobilization was to take months, and in some cases, even years.4 The large West End hotels provided discreet but accessible havens of transition between the past dangers and thrills of service life and the post-war world of spouses, families and responsibility. For many, such hotels represented the last opportunity for illicit liaisons, as well as offering the possibility of sensual indulgence amongst the legion of prostitutes in central London – a profession that had boomed during the war years.


The occupant of Room 506 at the Strand Palace was known to be Captain James Robert Cadogan Armstrong of the South African Air Force. Armstrong had checked into the Strand Palace on the previous Saturday, 16 February. On his uniform he wore the ribbons of the Africa Star and the DFC (Distinguished Flying Cross). He seemed to be a regular hero.


In response to the woman’s screams, Thomas Paul and Leonard Luff headed upstairs to deal with the matter. When Luff opened the door with his pass-key, the two men were met by a shocking sight; a young woman lay face down on the bed, stripped naked and rendered helpless, with her hands tied behind her back. Standing over her, also naked, was Armstrong – tall, tanned, blue-eyed and handsome.5 The woman twisted her face to the intruders, exclaiming, ‘Thank God you came in.’


Armstrong turned to Paul and Luff in a fury.6


‘What the hell are you doing, breaking in here?’


Mr Luff explained who they were, but Armstrong made no answer. Luff asked what had been going on, but the girl asked to be untied first. Luff told Armstrong to do so and the girl was freed. He then adopted a nonchalant attitude and tried to bluster the matter out, demanding what right the staff had to enter his room, but when Luff mentioned that he would call the police, Armstrong became more reasonable.


Luff asked the woman, Pauline Brees, if she knew the man and she said she did. She claimed that he had knocked her out and then undressed her. She turned to Armstrong and asked if he had raped her. This question he avoided at first, but finally denied. Asked by Luff if they should call the police, Pauline insisted that they shouldn’t. She just wanted to leave the hotel and didn’t want any publicity.


Despite Pauline’s story, Luff didn’t believe her. There were no marks of violence on her, her clothing was on a chair by the bed – undamaged – and there were no signs of a struggle having taken place. Luff thought that Pauline ‘looked to me like a prostitute’.7 He told Pauline and Armstrong to collect their things and leave. They got dressed and Armstrong took Pauline home in a taxi to her lodgings. He then checked out of the hotel himself that Sunday morning. Though the incident had raised alarm, it was regarded as embarrassing rather than serious.


Pauline, who had been widowed just six months earlier, had been introduced to Armstrong about a week before by a mutual friend at Oddenino’s – a restaurant in Regent Street much frequented by RAF officers. When they met, Armstrong was wearing the khaki uniform of a lieutenant colonel in the South African Air Force. On the following Wednesday (20 February), Armstrong telephoned Pauline at her home in Maida Vale and invited her to lunch the next day. So, on Thursday, they lunched together at the Berkeley Restaurant in Knightsbridge. Afterwards they parted company in good spirits.8


On Friday, Pauline and Armstrong met again by appointment at Oddenino’s and from there went to the Berkeley again for a drink. This initiated something of an all-day pub-crawl that took them from the Falstaff in Fleet Street where they had lunch and then to Shepherd’s pub in Shepherd Market followed by the Brevet Club in Mayfair, which were both popular drinking venues with the Royal Air Force. They left the Brevet Club at about 10 p.m. as the club had run out of beer. This was a common occurrence throughout London at the time as publicans dealt with reduced supplies of beer as well as the increased demand for it since the outbreak of war.


Armstrong suggested that they go back to his room for a nightcap. Pauline agreed to accompany him to the Strand Palace where she knew he was staying but told him that she had to be home by 11.30 p.m. as she had an awkward landlady. The pair went up to the fifth floor to a double room overlooking the Strand and opposite the Art Deco entrance to the Savoy Hotel and the Savoy Theatre.9


In Room 506, Pauline sat on the bed while Armstrong poured himself a drink. Pauline refused to join him as she didn’t like whisky. He went over to the bed and kissed her. As he became more persistent, Pauline told him that she had to be going.


‘Oh no, you’re not,’ said Armstrong. ‘You’re staying the night with me.’10


At this point, events took a darker turn. Pauline got up, telling him not to be ridiculous as she headed for the door. But he had locked it. Grabbing her, he seized her arm and twisted it behind her back. Though she realized that she was in some danger, she claimed she didn’t scream because she didn’t want to embarrass him by getting him turned out of the hotel.


‘Why are you doing this?’ she asked him.


‘I hate women,’ said Armstrong.


He pulled off her coat and ordered her to strip. When she refused, they started to struggle. At 5 feet 11 inches, powerfully built and an accomplished rugby player, Armstrong threw her against the wall with such force that she lost consciousness. When she came to, Pauline realized that she had been stripped naked. Half conscious, she rushed for the door, but Armstrong grabbed her again.


‘Oh, no you don’t,’ he said. ‘We’ll soon fix this.’


He took a handkerchief and tied her hands behind her back, pushing her on to the bed. He then took off his own clothes. At this point, Pauline claimed that she didn’t scream because she was ‘only half conscious and paralysed with fright’. Armstrong then tried to turn her over, so that her face was in the pillow. But Pauline couldn’t breathe and struggled to free herself again. He now threatened her.


‘I’ll make you do exactly what I want you to do.’


Forcing himself on to her prostrate body, he attempted to rape her ‘in an un-natural way’ but she struggled so intensely that they fell off the bed. He then put his hands around her throat. Now terrified for her life, Pauline screamed.


‘Stop! Stop! For God’s sake. Stop!’


Armstrong punched Pauline in the face with his fist, rendering her unconscious again. The next thing she was aware of was the arrival in the room of the assistant manager and the head porter. ‘I was lying on the bed but I don’t know how I got there,’ she said later. Mr Luff told Armstrong and Pauline to get out, but he was, she remembered, ‘quite nice to [her]’.


Some months later, it was established that James Robert Cadogan Armstrong was actually Neville George Clevely Heath, by then standing trial for murder. Reginald Spooner of the Metropolitan Police questioned Pauline Brees and was clear in his interpretation of the incident at the Strand Palace Hotel; she did not want to prosecute Heath because she admitted she had gone knowingly with him to the bedroom to be stripped and beaten.


The matter was forgotten, at least for several months. It seemed to be an illicit liaison, a sexual adventure that had got out of hand – typical in this period of transition. Many people were tasting their last moments of freedom before settling down to post-war life. Maybe too much alcohol was consumed in the various pubs, clubs and restaurants that the couple had visited; both Heath and Pauline had drunk consistently throughout their time together. Perhaps both parties misinterpreted the desires of the other? Or Pauline hadn’t quite anticipated the intensity of ‘Armstrong’s’ intentions? But this incident – referred to only obliquely as ‘that incident at the London hotel’ or ‘a certain case not mentioned here’11 – was to take on a much darker significance at Heath’s trial. Had Pauline Brees chosen to prosecute Heath at the time, or had the hotel staff alerted the police to his behaviour, the whole series of tragic events that followed over the next six months might well have been prevented.


As it stood, by the end of the year, three young people would be dead, their families devastated and the nation appalled by the events of the summer of 1946.





PART ONE


London




CHAPTER ONE


Summer 1946




This is your victory! It is the victory of the cause of freedom in every land. In all our long history we have never seen a greater day than this. Everyone, man or woman, has done their best. Everyone has tried. Neither the long years, nor the dangers, nor the fierce attacks of the enemy have in any way weakened the independent resolve of the British nation. God bless you all.


Winston Churchill, VE Day, 8 May 1945


As the number of turkeys available this Christmas will not be sufficient to meet the demand, the Food Minister asks turkey retailers to spread the limited supplies among the largest number of families by cutting birds into two parts for sale. Half a turkey, he believes, will supply a good meal for most families.


The Times, 15 December 1945





The summer of 1946 was one of extremes.


A national sigh of relief had punctuated the end of the war and a concerted effort was made to move on from the conflict and look towards the future. After the popular rejection of Churchill’s Conservative party in the 1945 election, Attlee’s reforming Labour government had put social welfare at the heart of their agenda. These new social policies – particularly those regarding health, housing, education and pensions – seemed to embody the hopes for a new era for Britain, with Attlee declaring, ‘We are on the eve of a great advance in the human race.’1 But not everybody was so optimistic. The ultra-conservative Noël Coward observed, ‘I always felt that England would be bloody uncomfortable during the immediate post-war period, and now it is almost a certainty that it will be so.’2


Balancing the government’s progressive new initiatives, from the beginning of 1946 there was a reassuring effort to re-establish the pre-war patterns of British life. The Grand National and the Derby ran for the first time since 1940 and both the Cup Final and the Boat Race reappeared in the sports calendar. Even tennis was played at Wimbledon, despite bomb damage to Centre Court. In February, it was announced that London would host the Olympic Games in 1948.


The focus for June was the Victory Day (or ‘V’ Day) Celebration held in London over the Whit weekend, which was to formally mark the end of the Second World War. This was an opportunity to salute the people who had helped win the war and to showcase victorious Britain to the world – and the great survivor, London. The occasion was also to mark the first major outing for television broadcasting – a service still in its infancy when it had been curtailed by the outbreak of hostilities. ‘Remember me?’ asked announcer Jasmine Bligh as she introduced the same Mickey Mouse cartoon that had been playing when television stopped in September 1939. The message was clear; normal service had been resumed.3


On Saturday 8 June the Victory parade left Regent’s Park heading towards Tower Hill, culminating in a royal salute on the Mall. As many as 10 million Londoners – as well as visitors from out of town – came to celebrate. Some had taken up their positions in the Mall on Thursday and Friday to secure the best view, bringing with them ‘food, blankets and radios’. Many arrived on one of the seventy-five special ‘Victory Express’ trains that brought in sightseers from all over the country.4 Typically, despite the weather reports optimistically forecasting ‘ideal weather – plenty of sunshine, but not too hot’,5 after a promisingly sunny morning heavy rain fell throughout the rest of the day, drowning the city. But despite the weather, the crowd that braved it was determined to celebrate.


The parade was more than four miles long and consisted of over 500 vehicles from the navy, the RAF, British Civilian Services and the army. This was followed by a marching column of 20,000 troops and eighteen marching bands, which went from Marble Arch to Whitehall then along the Mall and up to Hyde Park Corner. The marching column was headed by the flags of the Allies, each with a guard of honour (apart, controversially, from Poland). Next came units representing the services of the British Empire and these were followed by units from all the British services. It took forty-five minutes for the whole marching column to pass any given point. The pageant, a spectacle ‘never surpassed in Britain’ marched in front of the royal family who stood for an hour and forty-eight minutes – much of it in the pouring rain – on the saluting base in the Mall, honouring the procession. Finally, ‘under a weeping sky’ came ‘the most enthralling spectacle of all’, as 307 RAF and Royal Navy planes roared over Trafalgar Square. This was followed by dancing, community singing, orchestral concerts and Punch and Judy shows in the various parks of central London as well as a free performance of As You Like It at the Regent’s Park Open-Air Theatre. As one newspaper reporter observed, ‘this beats everything – the coronation, the Jubilee and any of the cup finals’. At sunset, after years of blackout, the iconic buildings of London were lit by floodlights for the first time – the Houses of Parliament, Buckingham Palace, the National Gallery, St James’s Palace, the Tower of London, Westminster Abbey, Horse Guards’ Parade, Nelson’s Column, the War Office and, most poignantly of all, St Paul’s Cathedral – still standing indomitably, but surrounded by the devastation wreaked by the Blitz of 1940–41. Despite the sense of celebration, it was clear that recent wounds were barely healed.


The royal family appeared on the balcony at Buckingham Palace before travelling to Chelsea where the King and Queen embarked on the royal barge, accompanied by the young princesses, Elizabeth and Margaret Rose. The barge proceeded down the Thames to Westminster, with crowds packed on both banks of the river, as well as on the six bridges left open to the public that day. Ticker tape was dropped from Westminster Bridge as the King disembarked at the Houses of Parliament.




Perhaps the most impressive moment in a day of memories came when, after the King had landed, the packed crowds thronging the bridges, streets, windows and roofs high above the river joined in singing ‘God Save The King’ to music relayed over 500 speakers.





The festivities continued at 11 p.m. with a firework display over central London, concentrated on the Thames. Fireworks and coloured water displays were accompanied by cascades of fire from temporary bridges across the river and bonfires burned along the Mall. The News of the World noted that ‘in visual effect it was the Blitz all over again and floodlit buildings gave the impression of the aftermath of an enemy incendiary raid’.6 Traffic came to a standstill and motorists and pedestrians ‘talked to each other freely as they waited to move on’. After a year of peace, the whole event was a reminder of the spirit and camaraderie that had helped the nation through six arduous years of war. A second RAF fly-past at 11.15 p.m. helped reinforce this feeling. Responding to the still enormous crowds outside Buckingham Palace, the royal family made a final appearance on the balcony at 12.25 a.m. before retiring to bed, though parties continued across the city well into the night.


The colour newsreel that recorded the celebrations for posterity ended with images of the fireworks on the Thames – the ‘most brilliant firework display in London’s history’, accompanied by strains of ‘Land of Hope and Glory’. Stanley Maxted, the distinguished Canadian war correspondent, brought his feelings about the day to a suitably patriotic close, echoing one of Churchill’s best-remembered wartime speeches:




And this ends a great day, a day belonging to the little man of the free peoples. Tomorrow, with this day’s glory in his heart, he – and the woman beside him – will return to the business of carving out the future of the nation. While behind him in his memory will rest this Victory Day to which he passed through his finest hour.7





Despite some grumbling (‘We haven’t got much to celebrate about’; ‘People have had enough of it’),8 ‘V’ Day was a great success, but it was a momentary highlight of celebration in what was to be a year of great anxiety and privation for the majority of the population. Britain was exhausted, bankrupt and bereft of basic commodities, not the least of these being food. The housing shortage had reached crisis point. During the war years, 116,000 houses had been destroyed across Greater London. Another 1,300,000 were in need of repair. Bombed-out families had nowhere to live and returning servicemen were exacerbating the problem. Building materials were scarce and many skilled tradesmen were yet to be demobilized. Desperate families became illegal squatters in empty houses and offices in Mayfair and Piccadilly, many of them garnering popular support from the general public. Just a few days after ‘V’ Day, on 19 June, Tom Williams, the Minister for Agriculture, observed that Britain faced ‘a grim and melancholy situation’ that was ‘worse than the hardest days of the war’.9


In 1939, 70 per cent of Britain’s food had been imported – including 50 per cent of meat and 70 per cent of cereals and fats. One of the main strategies of the Axis powers during the war had been to attack imports to Britain, thereby undermining British industry and potentially starving the nation into submission. The government had responded with an immediate programme of rationing in order to equitably feed and clothe the population.10 Rationing had quickly become a way of life and continued to dominate conversation and headlines throughout the war and well into the next decade, only to fully cease in 1954; the whole period of rationing in Britain lasting fifteen years. Petrol rationing had begun immediately the war broke out and this had been swiftly followed by the rationing of foodstuffs. Bacon, butter and sugar were rationed first, soon followed by meat, tea, jam, biscuits, cereals, cheese, eggs, lard, milk and tinned fruit. Some imported fruits all but vanished – 80 per cent had been imported in 1939 – hence the iconic disappearance of bananas. By 1946 many basic foods and clothing had been rationed for years. Restrictions continued to affect almost every consumer product from basics like sheets and blankets to luxury items like nail varnish and nylons. Books continued to be printed to ‘Wartime Economy Standard’, with thin paper, narrow margins and cheap bindings. Newspapers were also still restricted, often to four pages – effectively just a single folded sheet. If the general populace had hoped that the end of the war was to bring an end to the misery of rationing, they were bitterly disappointed.


Clothing was rationed on a ‘points’ system. Initially the allowance had been for approximately one new outfit per year but as the war had progressed, points were reduced to such an extent that the purchase of a coat constituted almost an entire year’s ration. By 1946 pre-war wardrobes had been ‘cannibalized to destruction’ as everybody attempted to ‘make do and mend’. All demobilized servicemen, though, were fitted out with a ‘demob suit’: a complete civilian outfit from cufflinks to shoes. But ‘it was strange to walk around a lot of young men your age wearing virtually the same suit’, observed one young recently demobbed soldier. The demob suit was simply ‘one uniform in exchange for another’.11 To make matters worse, the quality of these suits was very poor, held in low esteem by the men who had to wear them; variously dismissed as ‘foul’, ‘gaudy’ and ‘like walking around in a pair of pyjamas’.12


The food crisis was not only affecting Britain – it was global. As well as attempting to feed the nation fairly, the government, rather altruistically, was also trying to stave off famine abroad following poor harvests in Europe and Asia. In the summer of 1946, a 15 per cent cut in malting barley for brewers was made. The British public was told that it was being processed into animal feed, but in reality, the bulk of the barley was being sent abroad, ‘particularly’, noted an indignant Daily Express, ‘to Germany’. This resulted in a 50 per cent cut in supplies of beer in many pubs and clubs. The situation was exacerbated by a change in British drinking habits. By June 1946, the average man (and now woman) was drinking 25 per cent more beer than they had done before the war started. Beer was cheaper than spirits, which were extremely expensive now that the duty on them was so high. Added to this, men who had generally favoured spirits before the war had changed their drinking habits after spending years in the army, where beer had been the most popular, accessible and affordable tipple for the majority of conscripts. Women were also drinking more beer as drinks like sherry had become expensive or unobtainable during the war years. Harvey’s famous Bristol Cream Sherry was still unobtainable in 1946.


Consequently many venues regularly ran out of supplies of beer and had to close intermittently. Pubs in some areas were only able to open for three ‘priority’ hours a day: lunchtime, after work and for one hour in the evening. A chalked-up sign saying ‘Sorry, Closed: No Beer’ became a common sight in London to such an extent that the Daily Express suggested that beer should come under state control, much as the nationalized Coal Board was to supervise the provision of coal.


But the most emotive issue was the peacetime rationing of bread, which had never been restricted during the war. This was to prove very hard for the general populace, but particularly to housewives, who were already making do with the ‘National Loaf’ – the smallest and darkest that had been produced since the First World War (‘We have stood everything else, but this is the last straw,’ one housewife complained to her local newspaper). The issue was fiercely debated in parliament, with Winston Churchill commenting that the prospect of bread rationing was ‘one of the gravest announcements I have ever heard in time of peace’. If Britain couldn’t supply herself with her own daily bread, what hope was there for her future? When bread was finally rationed to an average 9 oz a day on 21 July 1946, it was front-page news both in Britain and America. In practice, however, the bread ration proved to be adequate for most families’ needs, but as David Kynaston notes in Austerity Britain, ‘the very fact of peacetime bread rationing would remain a symbolic sore as long as it remained in force’.13


As well as adding more stress to the life of the average housewife, scarcity had also given birth to a new sort of crime wave, and it was around this time that the black-market ‘spiv’ began to emerge as a recognizable type – the opportunistic patter, the wide lapels, the gaudy tie, the pencil moustache. Many perfectly respectable citizens both condemned and used the black market. Some organized gangs stole basics – hundreds of thousands of poultry and millions of eggs were illegally traded. Others specialized in the luxury market for cars, furs and jewellery. These crimes were severely dealt with by the courts. One licensee, Gertrude Bryan of Epsom, was fined £1,236 (the cost of a semi-detached house at the time) for charges of receiving clothing coupons and stealing corned beef. Her accomplice, Frederick Gilbert, was sentenced to nine months in prison. The magistrate gave real weight to their sentences:




When the whole of Europe is tightening its belt we have before us these offences connected with the abuse of rationing. It might be that people would go short because of these cases. The whole fair distribution of food might break down if these offences became widespread.14





Throughout the summer, the economist John Maynard Keynes attempted to negotiate a grant or financial gift from the United States that might help alleviate Britain’s perilous situation (he referred to it later as a ‘financial Dunkirk’). But despite his high hopes, all he could arrange was a reluctant loan. The Americans were very loathe to make the loan and the British equally loathe to need it so desperately. Ultimately, the Anglo-American loan of £1.1 billion was finally negotiated on 15 July 1946. It was only paid off sixty years later, in 2006.


Buffeted between severity and celebration, Britain in 1946 was suffused with a mixture of relief and uncertainty, hope and exhaustion. Even the weather, as if to reflect the confusions of the period, was unseasonably changeable. At the end of May, after a transatlantic depression lost its way, Britain was drenched by twenty-eight days of rain while Iceland basked in a typical British summer. The weather that followed in June was a mixture of sunshine and showers, so that nobody was sure whether to prepare themselves with headscarves or sunglasses. An artist and occasional film extra, Margery Gardner, unsure what to expect from day to day, carried both in her handbag: a pair of white sunglasses and a headscarf given to her by a boyfriend who had been in the RAF.


On Midsummer Day, Monday 24 June, the temperature reached 75 degrees in London – the highest of that summer – but was followed by violent thunderstorms. Houses were flooded, crops damaged and roads turned into rivers. In some areas, fields were white with hailstones as big as marbles. It was ‘the worst June weather for nearly forty years’.15


The summer of 1946 was one of extremes.




CHAPTER TWO


Miss Symonds


15–23 JUNE 1946


Tall and slim, 21-year-old Yvonne Symonds was an attractive brunette, with blue eyes, olive skin and a ‘Grecian nose’.1 She had been demobbed from the WRNS in January 1946 and had since been living with her parents at their family home in a respectable suburb of Worthing, a seaside resort on the south coast.


Yvonne was one of many young women who had joined the services since 1941, when on 18 December the National Service Act had introduced the conscription of women. Every ‘mobile’ woman in the country between the ages of eighteen and fifty had been conscripted on behalf of the war effort – some to factory work, others to one of the three female services: the ATS (Auxiliary Territorial Service), the WAAF (Women’s Auxiliary Air Force) and the WRNS (Women’s Royal Naval Service). As it became clear that the idea of merely volunteering for war work or to join the services would soon be abandoned, many women had joined up quickly before decisions were made for them. At the time, few women had any idea what the different services had to offer and for many the decision was made lightly – some going on instinct while others went for the uniform that appealed the most. Christian Oldham, the convent-educated daughter of an admiral, joined the WRNS in 1940 and was very taken with the ‘flattering double-breasted jacket, svelte skirt and pert tricorne hat’ that made up a Wren officer’s uniform.2 In 1942, Queen Elizabeth gave the royal blessing to the distinctive Wren hats. She had tried one in front of one of the mirrors at Buckingham Palace and declared that ‘the children loved it!’3 Certainly the WRNS was thought to be the most fashionable of the services,4 the uniform having been designed by the couturier Molyneux, who had created Gertrude Lawrence’s costumes for the original production of Private Lives in 1930 and the wedding dress of Princess Marina of Greece in 1934. In 1939 there had been only 3,000 serving WRNS personnel; by 1944 the number had reached a peak of 74,620.5


In the early part of the war, Wrens had only been allocated to five categories covering office or domestic work, but by the time Yvonne had joined the service, women were working in twenty-five categories covering a broad range of roles from mechanics to boat crew, from signallers to ‘torpedomen’.6 She had joined the WRNS at the age of eighteen in 1943 and had been stationed at various stone frigates – land-based naval depots – including HMS Shrapnel, which was actually the Great Western Hotel in Southampton, and HMS Grasshopper, which was the naval name for Weymouth Harbour where combined operations were focused on Operation Neptune, the D-Day landings. Yvonne had also worked in Portsmouth on HMS Marshal Soult, a disarmed World War One warship that was used as a depot ship to supply clothing and food stores to the ships that were to take part in the invasion of Normandy.


On Saturday 15 June, Yvonne attended a WRNS reunion dinner dance at a pub in Chelsea. She’d arranged to stay overnight at the Overseas Club just behind the Ritz in St James’s so she wouldn’t have to travel back to Worthing late on the Saturday night. Whilst at the reunion, Yvonne was struck by a tall, tanned, handsome man – blond, well-built, with eyes a peculiar shining blue. From his uniform she could see that he was a decorated officer in the South African Air Force. He had a plain gold ring on the little finger of his left hand and also wore a gold watch with a leather strap. He was extremely attractive, good company and full of stories about his wartime exploits. There was the occasion when he flew a plane under a bridge – much to the chagrin of his commanding officer – and the time he baled out of a burning bomber over Holland – hence the caterpillar badge that he wore proudly on his lapel. These were worn exclusively by members of the Caterpillar Club – flyers who had baled out of their aircraft and survived. Referring to the silk from which parachutes were made, the club’s motto was ‘Life depends on a silken thread’: fragile, precious and fraught with danger. Handsome, heroic and charming, the airman fascinated Yvonne. He introduced himself as Lieutenant Colonel ‘Jimmy’ Heath.7


Yvonne was not alone in succumbing to the glamour and romance of air force flyers like Heath. Many observers of the period noted the particular effect that airmen’s uniforms had on women. Joan Wyndham, who left a bohemian background in Chelsea to join the WAAF, recalls a dance she attended shortly after joining the service. Hopeful of romance with a glamorous young airman, she was distressed to find no pilots present and that she would have to make do with ‘pintsized Romeos’ and other ‘wingless wonders’. An airman’s wings were a badge of heroism and the uniform had a particular sexual allure (‘I can’t describe the effect wings have on a WAAF!’).8 In The Naked Civil Servant, Quentin Crisp makes a keen distinction between the sort of servicemen his gay friends fancied (young, lower-ranking sailors) and those his female friends were attracted to: ‘[Women] prefer airmen, by which they always mean the higher ranks.’9 Romantic novels of the period were keen to exploit the iconography of these new ‘Knights of the Air’ in titles such as Flying Wild, A Flying Visit, Winged Love, Air Force Girl and Wellington Wendy.10 One airman, William Simpson, summed up the appeal of his uniform to women; in a nutshell, it was ‘redolent of glamour and courage’.11


Having charmed Yvonne with his wartime tales, Heath suggested that she join him at the Panama Club in South Kensington, where he was a member. They’d be able to have an after-hours drink. For a guileless young woman like Yvonne, this must have seemed to be the epitome of metropolitan sophistication. The Panama Club was only a short taxi ride away from Chelsea, situated near the Natural History Museum and just round the corner from South Kensington underground station. The club had been set up here at 23-24 Cromwell Place in August 1945 after its former premises had been destroyed by enemy action. Open from 3 p.m. to midnight, the club provided drinks, food and entertainment for members only. After drinking in public houses, many non-members tried to get into the club when the pubs closed, so the staff, led by receptionist Solomon Joseph, supervised admission to the club very strictly. He had been in trouble with the law before for licensing and betting offences and was determined not to have any more brushes with the police.12


At the reception area of the club, Heath signed himself in with Yvonne as his guest on the yellow visitors’ form. Solomon Joseph unbolted the door and ushered them into the club. For Yvonne this was an adventure into a glamorous night-time society, escorted by the most dashing of men – a world away from the cosseted life she lived with her parents in Worthing. Heath led her through the reception area and up the short flight of stairs to the first floor where there was a small bar. They carried on up to the club room on the second floor.


The club room at the Panama was partitioned into two sections – the area to the right was a dining room about 16 feet wide and 37 feet long with a dozen tables lining the longer walls, with sofas behind them and some small chairs. At the far end of the room was an area for the band, which played every night from 8 p.m. The dance floor dominated the centre of the room and was in full swing when Heath and Yvonne arrived.13 The Perry Como hits ‘Surrender’ and ‘Prisoner of Love’, The Ink Spots’ ‘To Each His Own’ and Margaret Whiting’s version of the old Al Bowlly classic ‘Guilty’ were all popular tunes with dance bands that summer.


The left-hand section of the second floor was a lounge and bar where members had drinks served to them by two waitresses, Joyce and Phyllis, who had worked there since the club had moved premises. It was in the club room while the band played dance music that Heath first suggested that Yvonne should sleep with him that night. Yvonne, despite her time in the WRNS, was a polite and well-brought-up young woman. She was also a virgin. She refused. After their evening together, Heath hailed a taxi and dropped Yvonne off at the Overseas Club in Park Place. He took her rejection of his advances with good grace. So she had no concerns about arranging to meet him again the next day. He seemed the perfect gentleman.


On Sunday morning, Heath rang Yvonne at the Overseas Club and suggested that they spend the day together. Yvonne met Heath at the club dressed in a blue and white print dress with a full-length light summer coat.14 They took a taxi to Knightsbridge to one of Heath’s regular haunts, the Nag’s Head, a mews pub in Kinnerton Street, where they stayed until about 2.30 p.m. From there they went for tea to an hotel, most probably the Normandie, another favourite haunt of Heath’s, which overlooked Knightsbridge Green. At tea, he again pressurized Yvonne to sleep with him, ‘over-persuading’ her. As was clear from many of his relations with women, Heath was deeply charismatic, very convincing and had a winning way with words. He was confident in his looks and took great care with his appearance. He was very aware of the seductive power of both his uniform and his tales of wartime heroism, and extremely confident in his physical allure. After the trial, an officer friend of Heath’s who had known him a number of years stated that ‘women were fascinated by him. Such was his magnetism that it was invariably embarrassing to be in his company when the girls were about’.15


Yvonne, trusting, inexperienced and swept along with the force of this apparently whirlwind romance, was conflicted. She was hugely attracted to this handsome, charming man. He told her that he loved her; why didn’t they get married? If they were ‘unofficially engaged’, surely that would make it acceptable for them to sleep with each other? With wartime brief encounters still very recent history, there was nothing unusual in the swift trajectory of this courtship. The war had encouraged young people particularly to live for the moment and, as Virginia Nicholson observes in Millions Like Us, her study of women’s lives in the 1940s, ‘sex was a way to challenge extinction’.16 This sense of impetuous desire with little-known bedfellows continued into the early post-war period and Heath was expert at exploiting it.


There’s a sense too that he was well aware that women’s attitude to sex had evolved since the 1930s. Since the outbreak of war, more women were having sex before marriage – or with men other than their husbands – more women were using contraceptives and more were contracting sexually transmitted diseases. The diarist Joan Wyndham confessed to the intimacy of her journal that she was aware at the time she was writing that pre-war mores were breaking down: ‘Inside me I could feel every moral code I had ever believed in since childhood begin to crumble away.’17


For Yvonne, the speed and illicit nature of her romance with Heath intensified the experience, like one of the films she’d seen at the pictures. And here she was, living it herself – two young people desperately in love, wanting to be together. Now that marriage had been proposed, the engagement felt tangible; Yvonne agreed to sleep with him.


The couple took a taxi to Victoria to pick up Heath’s luggage and then on to the Overseas Club to pick up Yvonne’s small, cream overnight bag. Around 7 p.m., Heath telephoned ahead to an hotel he knew in Notting Hill to tell the manageress that they were coming. He told her that he was calling from a telephone box at Euston. Half an hour later, they arrived at the Pembridge Court Hotel, just off Notting Hill Gate.18


The Pembridge Court was a private hotel known for its ‘good class clientele’. Elizabeth Wyatt ran the business with her husband Henry and her daughter-in-law, Alice. It was a typical mid-nineteenth-century double-fronted, stuccoed building with a pillared front porch entrance. It stood (as it still does) on Pembridge Gardens, nestled just off the southwest corner of Pembridge Square. It consisted of a ground, first and second floors with a basement beneath. On the first floor were three bedrooms, numbers 1, 3 and 4, as well as two private rooms. On the second floor were bedrooms 5 to 10 and a bathroom. On the intermediate landing between the two floors were a communal bathroom and lavatory.


Yvonne followed Heath through the outside gate and up the five stone steps to the entrance hall. He signed the register as Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs N. G. C. Heath of Black Hill Cottages, Romsey. Mrs Wyatt asked Heath how long they would want the room for? He said that he would like to book it for three or four nights, possibly five. He told her that he had stayed at the hotel a couple of years earlier when he was in the South African Air Force. Mrs Wyatt felt sure that she recognized him and that he had been a guest at the hotel on a couple of previous occasions.


Lieutenant Colonel Heath was offered Room 4 on the first floor. He was given a key to the room and another to open the front door, which was locked at 10 p.m. every night. Mrs Wyatt accompanied the couple up the stairs to show them their room. This was situated at the back of the building, at the top of the flight of stairs. The room was typical of the price range and period – 19 feet by 15 feet with a window overlooking the back garden. Opening the door, the wardrobe was against the left-hand wall. Behind the door, to the right, were twin beds, a couple of feet apart. On the wall opposite the foot of the beds was a fireplace with a gas fire and a small gas ring. The gas fire was to prove crucial later on. As there was no open fire in the grate, there was no necessity for a poker. Mrs Wyatt later confirmed that there had never been a poker in the room.


Between the fireplace and the foot of the beds were two armchairs, positioned side-on to the fireplace, facing into the centre of the room. To the left of the chimneybreast was a chest of drawers and to the right a dressing table at an angle. Another table sat beneath the window in the right-hand wall. To the right of the window, in the corner, was a washbasin. After explaining about breakfast and guiding them through the facilities, Mrs Wyatt left Heath and his ‘wife’ to settle in.


That night, in Room 4 of the Pembridge Court Hotel, Yvonne surrendered her virginity to Heath. They had intercourse twice, which brought about some bloodstaining on the sheets of the bed nearest the door. Throughout their night together, according to her testimony, Heath was very gentle with Yvonne and treated her with nothing but kindness and sensitivity.


The next morning, Monday 17 June, Mrs Wyatt sent Rhoda Spooner, the hotel waitress, up to Room 4 with tea and toast. Rhoda didn’t usually serve meals in any of the guest rooms, but Mrs Wyatt had made an exception for the charming lieutenant colonel and his pretty young wife. When Rhoda entered the room with the tea, Heath and Yvonne were both in the bed nearest to the door. Rhoda went to open the curtains and left the tea tray. She noticed Heath’s large brown suitcase on the table near the window and a flying helmet with large goggles hanging on one of the chairs. At about 11 a.m. that morning, there was a knock on the door from Barbara Osborne, the chambermaid.19 Barbara generally cleaned and changed the beds between guest occupancies. By now, Yvonne was standing by the chest of drawers in her sky-blue dressing gown. Heath was sitting up in the bed nearest the window, wearing his red dressing gown.


‘Will you be long?’ asked Barbara, ‘I’m keen to get on with my work.’


‘I was just going to get up and come back later,’ said Heath.


He suggested to Yvonne that she should stay with him at the hotel for another day or two, but she’d promised her parents that she would return to Worthing that day. They had sex again that afternoon, then Heath saw her off on the 9.28 p.m. train from Victoria to Worthing. He promised to phone her and that he would come and see her later in the week. Yvonne gave Heath her address in Warren Road and her telephone number, Swandean 906.


Yvonne arrived home that evening after 11 p.m., full of her romantic weekend with her handsome pilot. She was engaged to Jimmy and couldn’t wait for her parents to meet him. He had said that he was coming down to Worthing that week anyway to attend the opening of the Shoreham Airport that was re-opening the following weekend. As he had promised, Heath telephoned Yvonne on the Tuesday, the Wednesday and then again on Thursday 20 June, like any ordinary, infatuated boyfriend who couldn’t keep himself from chatting to his fiancée every day. Such excitement had rarely intruded into Yvonne’s life before whilst growing up in one of the most archetypal of English seaside resorts.


In an age before foreign travel, Worthing was a hugely popular – if polite – holiday destination with none of the excesses and vulgarity of Blackpool, Margate or the ‘somewhat overgrown’ Brighton.20 The town styled itself very much as a middle-class resort. Only eighty-six minutes from Victoria by the electric train, it was also popular with businessmen who worked in the City of London and commuted home at night. Increasingly Worthing had promoted itself as a winter resort and it appealed – as it still does today – to an older clientele of the well-heeled retired. The Ward Lock Guide of the time observed that:




[. . .] perhaps the best evidence of a genial all-the-year climate is the large number of residences built in recent years at West Worthing and elsewhere in the borough by Anglo-Indians and others to whom sunshine is almost a necessity.21





In 1941 the threatened German invasion (‘Operation Sealion’) had seen a dramatic transformation along the beaches of the south coast from Lyme Regis in the west to Ramsgate in the east. Barbed wire and landmines took the place of buckets and spades as coastal defence had become a priority – especially during 1940–42 when the invasion of Britain seemed imminent. Consequently Worthing’s famous pier, one of the principle attractions of the resort that had stood since 1862, was partially demolished and closed in 1940. Six years on, it remained a prominent and silent scar at the centre of the town.


At Whitsuntide of 1946, the weekend of ‘V’ Day, the local council had hoped that they could draw holidaymakers back to the resort, but a planned Victory parade through the town had been aborted due to lack of interest. As a focus to reinvigorate the tourist trade, the council had organized the reopening of the pavilion and bandstand on the parade. The opening was hugely anticipated as a matter of local pride. But despite their best-laid plans, the opening was, literally, a wash-out, cursed like the rest of that summer by bad weather. The Worthing Herald reported that ‘June 1946 was the DULLEST for twenty-three years; the COLDEST for eighteen years; the WETTEST for thirteen years’.22


Inside from the pelting rain, Worthing’s repertory company offered a weekly changing programme at the Connaught Theatre. That week the Overture Repertory Players presented Fear Walks Behind by Sydney Horler and Norman Lee. The town’s four cinemas were packed. With such terrible weather and television still a novelty, 1946 was the peak of cinema attendance in Britain with some 1.6 billion attendances – 3 million cinema-goers a day. The cinema offerings at Worthing that summer were a mixture of long-forgotten titles and the occasional classic, the majority from Hollywood. The Rivoli played She Wouldn’t Say Yes and Cornered. At the Odeon, Alan Ladd and Veronica Lake starred in The Blue Dahlia. Lana Turner smouldered in a risque two-piece swimsuit in the screen version of James M. Cain’s amoral murder story, The Postman Always Rings Twice and Ingrid Bergman suffered beautifully in Spellbound, the poster asking boldly, ‘Will he kiss me or kill me?’23


* * *


On Friday 21 June, Yvonne was surprised but delighted when Jimmy telephoned her at about midday, telling her that he was actually in Worthing and couldn’t wait to see her. Yvonne quickly changed into her most flattering green dress and met Heath in the centre of town. When they met, he told her that he was planning to stay for about ten days so that he could see more of her and meet her parents. He was smartly dressed, out of uniform this time in a grey pinstriped suit, collar and tie, but no hat. He’d left his luggage at the railway station until he’d decided on a place to stay. But finding an hotel at the start of the most anticipated holiday season since the beginning of the war would be no easy feat.


That weekend, Worthing was to be overrun with holidaymakers, many taking their first holiday since 1939. Two thirds of the population were to take a holiday that summer and the south-coast seaside resorts braced themselves for the enormous demand. Trains, stations, hotels and boarding houses were packed with thousands of people. Mile-long queues formed at daybreak at London stations when the railways handled the biggest crowds they had seen for years. Some luggage-laden travellers waited throughout the night to catch early trains. At Paddington a ‘crocodile’ of people wound its way into the side streets as there was no more standing space in the station itself. Everybody, it seems, was in holiday mood and aiming for the seaside.


Yvonne and Heath had lunch and with her local knowledge she advised him about places to stay. In Heath’s Daily Telegraph for that day there was a prominent advertisement for the Ocean Hotel, right on the seafront.




WORTHING OCEAN HOTEL


‘A Sun Trap on the Sea Front’


Unrivalled Position.


45 Bedrooms ~ World-famous Cuisine


Completely Redecorated ~ Central Heating


Dancing to Bob Crowder and his band.24





That afternoon, Heath and Yvonne called at the hotel on Marine Parade, opposite the beach. At the reception, the couple met George Girdwood, the hotel manager. Heath said that he was looking for accommodation for himself for the next ten days.25 The hotel being full at the time, Girdwood suggested that Heath could be accommodated for a couple of days in the hotel annexe, round the corner at 11 West Buildings, after which they could accommodate him in the main hotel. Heath readily agreed to this. He said his name was Lieutenant Colonel Heath and signed the register accordingly. He gave his address – this time – as South Africa House in Trafalgar Square and his nationality as South African, but Yvonne didn’t seem to notice. She and her new fiancé then left together to pick up his luggage from Worthing Railway Station. They returned to the hotel shortly afterwards with one of Heath’s large brown suitcases. He went alone to the annexe to his room, but then returned to have tea with Yvonne in the hotel lounge.


At this point, Heath asked Yvonne what time the evening papers came from London. She told him that they were already out, so he bought two. Throughout tea he glanced through the pages of the newspapers and was reading them intently. Yvonne remarked to him about this, but he didn’t reply. After he had finished with the papers, Yvonne flicked through them herself, but saw nothing to interest her. She thought that Heath was rather quiet and that something might be worrying him. Was it something she’d done? Or said? Perhaps he was cooling towards her? Now that she had allowed him to sleep with her, perhaps he had lost interest? But Yvonne kept her insecurities to herself. Whatever Heath’s feelings, he too was unwilling to give voice to them. He said he would be all right tomorrow, and that he had been ‘up all Thursday night’. He then jokingly mentioned some shirts that needed washing. Yvonne, eager to please her new lover, was only too happy to say that she’d wash them through for him at home and would collect them from him later. After tea, they went out together, but returned to the hotel for dinner at about 7 p.m. They were not seen together again that night, but they could easily have gone back directly to the hotel annexe without being seen. They certainly had sex again at the hotel and this may well be the occasion on which it occurred.


The next day was Saturday 22 June. Before she left her parents’ house, Yvonne washed the shirts that she had taken from Heath the night before. As she was washing them, she noticed that one of the shirts had a number of small brown stains on the tail, but she wasn’t quite sure what they were. Once washed, she put them out to dry, intending to iron them the next day. She then headed into Worthing to meet her fiancé.


At about 12.15 p.m., Heath and Yvonne went to the Ship Hotel in South Street, which was a quirky character pub modelled on an old galleon.26 Again, Heath was wearing his ‘civvies’. He was delighted to bump into an old friend, Angus Bruce, and introduced him to Yvonne. Bruce was drinking there with his friend, Dick Hollis, and the foursome had a drink together. Bruce asked what his friend was doing in Worthing?27 Heath told him that he was staying ten days at the Ocean Hotel. He’d been demobbed and was about to start a business buying planes in England to sell abroad.


Bruce had known Heath for about two years. He had been manager of the South Western Hotel in Wimbledon where Heath had been a regular. They’d once had a night out on the town drinking at Oddenino’s and the Haymarket Club in Shaftesbury Avenue. But at that time, which wasn’t too long ago, Heath had been known as ‘Captain Armstrong’ of the South African Air Force. Heath explained that he had been demobbed with the rank of lieutenant colonel and had received a letter of pardon from the King for a previous indiscretion in the RAF. He was no longer known as ‘Armstrong’ but as ‘Heath’. This must have elicited some curiosity from Yvonne, who was witness to the conversation, but, as Jimmy had explained, he’d had a letter of pardon and besides, it was all in the past now.


Before they left the Ship, to celebrate their engagement, Bruce invited Heath and Yvonne to be his guests that evening to a dinner dance that was being held at the Blue Peter Club. The club was owned by his drinking companion Dick Hollis, who was Bruce’s boss, as he was now working there as catering manager. The club was in Angmering-on-Sea near Littlehampton, just a short drive from Worthing. The young couple said they’d be delighted.


Yvonne and Heath went back to eat at the Ocean Hotel. Over lunch, he wondered if Yvonne had heard anything about an incident that had taken place in the hotel they had stayed in the previous Sunday? Yvonne had heard nothing about it, but was curious to hear more. Heath went on. A woman, he said, had been killed – murdered – there during the week. But before Yvonne could ask any more, Heath reminded her that they had an appointment to get to. They were to meet her parents at Worthing Golf Club, just near the Symonds’ family home. He said that he would tell her all about the murder later on.
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